

## Original Research Article

# Effect of Combined Ethanol Leaf Extracts of *Moringa oleifera* and *Gongronema latifolium* on Body weight and Blood glucose Concentration of Streptozotocin-Nicotinamide-Induced Diabetic Albino Rats

### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Diabetes is a major health challenge globally and it is on the increase as carbohydrate is the main food consumed by an average human. Up till now, no synthetic drug has been able to provide permanent cure for diabetes.

**Aim:** This study investigated the effect of the combined ethanol leaf extracts of *Moringa oleifera* and *Gongronema latifolium* on body weight and blood glucose levels of streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced diabetic albino rats.

**Methods:** Experimental diabetes was induced intraperitoneally with 65mg/kg bodyweight of streptozotocin and 230mg/kg bodyweight of nicotinamide. A total of forty male albino rats were divided into eight groups of five rats each which were normal control, diabetic control and diabetics administered 500mg/kg *M. oleifera*, 500mg/kg *G.latifolium*, 250mg/kg *M.oleifera*+500mg/kg *G.latifolium*, 500mg/kg *M.oleifera*+250mg/kg *G. latifolium*, 500mg/kg *M.oleifera*+500mg/kg *G. latifolium* and 10mg/kg bodyweight glibenclamide respectively.

**Results:** There was a significant ( $p \leq 0.05$ ) reduction in blood glucose levels of the treated groups when compared to the diabetic control. A significant body weight gain was observed across the treated groups compared to the diabetic untreated. Statistical analysis was done using One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) at a significance level of  $p \leq 0.05$ , the post hoc test was done using Turkey multiple comparison test.

**Conclusion:** Based on the results obtained, it is obvious that there is synergy in the anti-diabetic efficacies of *Moringa oleifera* and *Gongronema latifolium*.

**Key words:** *M. oleifera*, *G. latifolium*, streptozotocin, nicotinamide, diabetes

## INTRODUCTION

According to the world health organization, diabetes mellitus (DM) commonly referred to as diabetes is a group of metabolic disorders in which there are high blood sugar levels over a prolonged period. Symptoms of high blood sugar include frequent urination, increased thirst and increased hunger. If left untreated, diabetes can cause many complications. Acute complications can include diabetic ketoacidosis, hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state or death. Serious long term complications include cardiovascular disease, stroke, chronic kidney disease, foot ulcers, and damage to the eyes [1]. Diabetes is due to either the pancreas not producing enough insulin or the cells of the body not responding properly to the insulin produced [2]. Diabetes is one of the five leading causes of death worldwide, with type 2 diabetes occurring more frequently than type 1. Management of diabetes without side effect is still a challenge and therefore, new strategies need to be examined [3].

The lesions in the pathophysiology of diabetes are multiple and therefore would require more than a single drug agent to reverse all or a majority of the aspects of the disease. The effective therapeutic approach should be multimodal and in this light, several traditional medicinal herbs have been proffered, giving the plethora of active ingredients present in a single herb [4]. Polyherbal therapy which is the use of a combination of various agents from different plant sources for therapeutic purposes is a current pharmacological principle and has the advantage of producing maximum therapeutic efficacy with minimum side effects.

*Moringa oleifera* is the most widely cultivated species of the mono-generic family *Moringaceae*, which includes 13 species of trees and shrubs distributed in sub Himalayan ranges of India, Sri Lanka, North-eastern and Southwestern Africa, Madagascar and Arabia. *Moringa* is also native to parts of West Africa particularly Nigeria [5]. The whole *Moringa*

*oleifera* plant is used in the treatment of psychosis, eye diseases, fever and as an aphrodisiac, the aqueous extracts of roots and barks were found to be effective in preventing implantation [6]. The *Moringa* tree is a multifunction plant. It has been cultivated in tropical regions all over the world for the following characteristics: high protein, vitamins, mineral and carbohydrate content of entire plants; high value of nutrition for both humans and livestock; high oil content (42%) of the seed which is edible, and with medicinal uses; the coagulant of seeds could be used for wastewater treatment [5].

Different parts of the *Moringa oleifera* (Mo) tree have been established as being good sources of unique glucosinolates, flavonoids and phenolic [7, 8], carotenoids [9], tocopherols [10], polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) [11], highly bioavailable minerals [12], and folate [13]. Among glucosinolates, 4-O-( $\alpha$ -L-rhamnopyranosyloxy)-benzylglucosinolate (glucomoringin) is the most predominant in the stem, leaves, flowers, pods and seeds of *M. oleifera* [7]. Although in the roots, benzyl glucosinolate (glucotropaeolin) is the most prominent. The highest content of glucosinolate is found in the leaves and seeds. The enzymatic catabolism of glucosinolates by the endogenous plant enzyme myrosinase produces isothiocyanates, nitriles, and thiocarbamates that are known for strong hypotensive (blood pressure lowering) and spasmolytic (muscle relaxant) effects [14]. In the leaves, the amount of quercetin and kaempferol was found to be in the range of 0.07–1.26 and 0.05–0.67 %, respectively. The potent antioxidant activity of *Moringa* is attributed to the high concentration of these polyphenols. Medicinally, the antioxidant, wound healing, hypotensive, and diuretic effects of this plant have been reported [15, 16]. Airaodion *et al.*, [17] has reported its protective effect on haematological indices in crude oil treated diet.

Previous studies have reported the antioxidant [18], anti-inflammatory [19] and pharmacological [7] properties of *M. oleifera*. *Moringa oleifera* leaf

Comment [S1]: reasons

Comment [S2]: preferred

has been reported to be potent in the prevention of peptic ulcer [20]. However, Airaodion *et al.*, [21] reported that the combination of *M. oleifera* leaves and turmeric root is more potent in the prevention of peptic ulcer. Further studies revealed that *M. oleifera* leaves possess hepatoprotective efficiency against hydrocarbon exposure [22].

*Gongronema latifolium* is a climber, characterized by greenish-yellow flowers [23]. It is wide spread in tropical Africa and can be found in Senegal, east to Chad and south to Democratic Republic of Congo [24]. The leafy vegetable can be propagated by seed or soft wood, semi-hard wood and hard wood cuttings.

The common name for *G. latifolium* is amaranth globe. The Efik/Ibibio people in south-southern Nigeria call the leaves "Utasi", the Igbos in South-Eastern Nigeria call it "Utazi", and the Yorubas in South-Western Nigeria call it "arokeke" or "madumaro" [25].

The leaves are sharp-bitter-sweet and are widely used as leafy vegetable and a spice for sauces, soups and salads. The plant has also been widely used in folk medicine for maintaining healthy blood glucose levels.

Management of diabetes without any side effect is still a challenge, hence, this study was intended to evaluate the antidiabetic efficacy of combined ethanol leaf extracts of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* on Streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced diabetic rats.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Collection and preparation of plant extracts

Fresh and healthy leaves of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* were harvested from a farm in Ihiagwa in Owerri West Local Government Area of Imo state, Nigeria and were identified by Dr. S. N. Mbagwu, a plant taxonomist at the Department of Plant Science and Biotechnology, Imo State University, Owerri, Nigeria. They were dried under shade for about two weeks and then

ground into powder. Ethanol extracts were prepared using a modified maceration method reported by Etim *et al.* [29]. The leaf powders were soaked in 90 % ethanol for 72 hours, properly stoppered and labeled in a conical flask. The mixtures were filtered using Whatman No. 1 filter paper. The filtrates were concentrated to one-fifth of their original volumes in a rotary evaporator under reduced pressure at 40°C, after which they were evaporated to the dried residues in a water-bath, and stored in a refrigerator.

### Experimental Animals

A total of seventy-six albino rats aged between 4-6 weeks and weighing about 100-150 g were used for this study. Thirty-six of the rats were used for acute toxicity studies and the remaining forty for the experiment. They were purchased from the animal house of the Department of Veterinary Medicine, University of Nigeria, Nsukka and allowed to acclimatize for two weeks, prior to the commencement of the experiment. The rats were kept in well ventilated and clean cages at room temperature and their beddings changed every two days. They were fed with standard feed and water and water was given *ad libitum*.

### Acute Toxicity Studies (LD<sub>50</sub>)

Acute toxicity studies (LD<sub>50</sub>) was carried out using the method of Lorke [26]. The method comprises two phases:

In the first phase, for each of the plant extracts, nine rats were subjected to a 12 hours fast, after which they were randomly divided into three groups of three rats each. The extracts were administered orally as follows:

Group I: 10 mg/kg body weight of extract

Group II: 100 mg/kg body weight of extract

Group III: 1000 mg/kg body weight of extract

At the end of 24 hours observation time, all the animals were alive and active

**Comment [S4]:** Check reference again and match with that of reference section. It should be Lorke et al [26]

**Comment [S5]:** Mention the quantity of leaf powder and ethanol taken

**Comment [S6]:** Mention at what temperature?

**Comment [S3]:** Check the region again

**Comment [S7]:** Mention the particular name of extract administered.

In the second phase, for each extract, another nine rats fasted overnight and randomly divided into three groups of three rats each. Extracts were given through oral route as follows:

Group I: 1600 mg/kg body weight

Group II: 2700 mg/kg body weight

Group III: 5000 mg/kg body weight

At the end of the 24 hours observation time, all the rats were still alive and moving about actively.

### Induction of Diabetes

After the acclimatization period, the rats were subjected to a 12 hours fast and diabetes was induced by intraperitoneal injection of nicotinamide (NA) at a dose of 230 mg/kg body weight, 15 minutes before intraperitoneal administration of streptozotocin (STZ) at a dose of 65 mg/kg body weight reconstituted in citrate buffer. Confirmation of diabetes after two weeks was done using accu-chek glucometer active, with blood obtained from tail puncture of the rats, and rats with fasting blood glucose level (FBGL) of 200 mg/dl and above were considered diabetic and used for the study.

### Animal Grouping and Treatment

The forty rats were divided into eight groups of five rats each and were treated as follows:

Group I: 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* extract only (MO).

Group II: 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* extract only (GF)

Group III: 250 mg/kg *M. oleifera* and 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* extracts (MO+GF1)

Group IV: 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* and 250 mg/kg *G. latifolium* extracts (MO+GF2).

Group V: 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* and 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* extracts (MO+GF3).

Group V: 10 mg/kg glibenclamide (GB).

Group VII: Uninduced with diabetes and untreated (Normal Control)

Group VIII: Group VII: Induced with diabetes but untreated (Diabetic Control)

N.B: Glibenclamide is a standard drug used for diabetes management

Administration was done 12 hourly via orogastric intubation for 28 days.

### Determination of Blood Glucose Concentration

Blood for determination of glucose concentration was collected by cutting the tails of the rats after sterilizing with 10% alcohol. A drop of blood was allowed to fall on a test strip which was then inserted into a glucometer (Accu-chek active). This gave direct reading in mg/dl after 5 seconds.

### Statistical Analysis

Results were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation and data was analyzed for statistical significance by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Post hoc analysis was done using Turkey's multiple comparison test at a significance level of  $p \leq 0.05$ .

## RESULTS

### Acute Toxicity Studies

Administration of ethanol extracts of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* up to concentrations of 5000 mg/kg did not cause any mortality or any major acute toxicity. Thus, the LD<sub>50</sub> of the both extracts was found to be greater than 5000 mg/kg.

**Comment [S8]:** Mention the particular name of the extract administered.

**Comment [S9]:** Mention the PH of the citrate buffer.

**Table 1: Effect of Extracts on Body Weight (g) of The Animals Before And After 28days of Treatment.**

The result for the effect of ethanol extracts of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* on the body weight of the rats is presented on table 1 below.

TREATMENT	INITIAL WEIGHT	BODY WEIGHT	FINAL WEIGHT	BODY WEIGHT CHANGE	%BODY WEIGHT CHANGE
NC	112.17±9.77 <sup>a</sup>		161.77±5.11 <sup>b</sup>	0.44	44.22
DC	122.07±17.28 <sup>a</sup>		92.93±2.15 <sup>a</sup>	-0.24	-23.87
MO	107.43±3.29 <sup>a</sup>		144.23±5.32 <sup>b</sup>	0.34	34.25
GF	102.47±1.38 <sup>a</sup>		151.63±2.08 <sup>b</sup>	0.48	47.98
MO+GF1	101.00±14.48 <sup>a</sup>		139.37±3.91 <sup>b</sup>	0.38	37.99
MO+GF2	112.03±9.22 <sup>a</sup>		164.40±16.30 <sup>b</sup>	0.47	46.75
MO+GF3	127.63±14.84 <sup>a</sup>		159.87±19.12 <sup>b</sup>	0.25	25.26
GB	116.17±6.65 <sup>a</sup>		154.77±18.18 <sup>b</sup>	0.33	33.23

Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation. Values with different superscripts along the same row are statistically different at p<0.05.

**Legend:** MO = group administered 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera*, GF = group administered 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, MO+GF1 = group administered 250 mg/kg *M. oleifera*, MO+GF2 = group administered 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* +250 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, MO+GF3 = group administered 500m g/kg *M. oleifera*+500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, GB = group administered 10 mg/kg glibenclamide, NC= normal control group, DC = diabetic control group.

**Table 2: Effect of Extracts on Blood glucose concentrations (mg/dl) of The Rats Before And After 28days of Treatment.**

The result for the effect of ethanol extracts of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* on the blood glucose levels of the rats is presented on table 2 below.

TREATMENT	INITIAL GLUCOSE CONCENTRATION	FINAL GLUCOSE CONCENTRATION	CHANGE IN GLUCOSE CONCENTRATION	% CHANGE IN GLUCOSE CONCENTRATION
NC	90.33±4.62 <sup>a</sup>	82.67±4.16 <sup>a</sup>	-0.085	-8.48%
DC	261.70±32.87 <sup>a</sup>	340.70±24.99 <sup>a</sup>	0.30	30.19%
MO	296.30±88.68 <sup>a</sup>	102.30±16.92 <sup>a</sup>	-0.65	-65.47%
GF	295.30±71.45 <sup>a</sup>	85.33±11.59 <sup>b</sup>	-0.71	-71.10%
MO+GF1	322.30±36.69 <sup>a</sup>	100.00±3.00 <sup>b</sup>	-0.69	-68.97%
MO+GF2	256.70±77.11 <sup>a</sup>	93.67±14.74 <sup>b</sup>	-0.64	-63.51%
MO+GF3	318.70±70.50 <sup>a</sup>	81.33±9.29 <sup>b</sup>	-0.74	-74.48%
GB	271.00±75.90 <sup>a</sup>	107.30±5.51 <sup>a</sup>	-0.60	-60.41%

Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Values with different superscripts along the same row are statistically different at  $p < 0.05$ .

**Legend:** MO = group administered 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera*, GF = group administered 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, MO+GF1 = group administered 250 mg/kg *M. oleifera*, MO+GF2 = group administered 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* +250 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, MO+GF3 = group administered 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera*+500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, GB = group administered 10 mg/kg glibenclamide, NC= normal control group, DC = diabetic control group.

## DISCUSSION

This study investigated the effect of ethanol extract of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* on streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced diabetic albino rats in combined as well as single doses. Diabetes mellitus is a disease that is characterized by a derangement in carbohydrate, lipid and protein metabolism.

Management of this disease is considered a global challenge because an effective measure is yet to be discovered. Most of the modern antidiabetic drugs only control blood sugar levels as long as they are regularly administered and are associated with a myriad of undesired side effects [27].

The results from this study revealed significant loss of weight of the untreated diabetic rats by 23.87 % compared to the non-diabetic animals. This might be attributed to the loss in muscle and adipose tissue resulting from excessive breakdown of tissue protein and fatty acids [28]. It corroborates the findings of Mohamed *et al.* [29] who reported a significant body weight loss in diabetic rats induced with streptozotocin.

There was 34.26 %, 47.98 %, 37.99 %, 46.75 %, 25.26 %, and 33.23 % increase in body weight in the groups treated with 500 mg/kg *M.*

*oleifera* (MO), 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* (GF), 250 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* (MO+GF1), 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 250 mg/kg *G. latifolium* (MO+GF2), 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* (MO+GF3) and 10 mg/kg glibenclamide (GB) respectively. The body weight gain observed across the treated groups gave an insight into the ameliorative effects of the extracts used for treatment as well as the anti-diabetic drug, glibenclamide.

In type 2 Diabetes mellitus, the loss of a direct effect of insulin to suppress hepatic glucose production and glycogenolysis in the liver causes an increase in hepatic glucose production [30]. This corroborates with the hyperglycaemia observed in the rats after streptozotocin-nicotinamide administration. Oral administration of *M. oleifera* and *G. latifolium* and their co-administration had a hypoglycaemic effect on the treated rats. Results revealed a reduction of blood glucose concentration by 65.47 %, 71.11 %, 68.98 %, 63.51 %, 74.48 %, and 60.40 % in the groups administered 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera*, 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, 250 mg/kg *M.oleifera* + 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 250 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* and 10 mg/kg glibenclamide respectively. Sylvester *et al.* [31] reported that experimental

Comment [S12]: (Table 1)

Comment [S10]: alteration

Comment [S13]: CHECK THE VALUES WITH THAT OF THE TABLE 2. 71.10%

Comment [S14]: 68.97%

Comment [S15]: 60.41%

Comment [S11]: CHECK THE VALUES WITH THAT OF THE TABLE 1. 34.25%

Comment [S16]: (Table 2)

rats subjected to streptozotocin- induced diabetes mellitus and treated with *G. latifolium* extracts had a significant ( $p \leq 0.05$ ) reduction of blood glucose by 66.43 %. The result of this study corresponds favourably with the blood glucose lowering effects of *Corchorus olitorius* [32], *Vernonia amygdalina* [33], *Talinum triangulare* [34], *Telfairia occidentalis* [35], and *Carica papaya* [36] among others.

The hypoglycaemic effects of *M. oleifera* leaves have been postulated to be associated with decreased intestinal glucose uptake and slowing gastric emptying time by fibre in the leaves whose fibre content is 12 % (w/w) [37]. The presence of three important bioactive phytochemicals; quercetin, chlorogenic acid and moringinine [38]. Chlorogenic acid has been

shown to inhibit glucose – 6 –phosphate translocase in rats" liver which resulted in a reduction of hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis [39]. In a human study, chlorogenic acid caused a decrease in glycemic response during oral glucose tolerance test [40]. Moringinine demonstrated an improvement of glucose tolerance in rats models [41].

The group that was administered standard antidiabetic drug, glibenclamide, showed a reduction in blood glucose level due to its insulin–stimulating actions on the beta cells of the pancreas [42]. The significant ( $p \leq 0.05$ ) reduction in blood glucose by the combined action of *G. latifolium* and *M. oleifera* extracts evident in the groups administered 250 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium*, 500 mg/kg *M. oleifera* + 250 mg/kg *G. latifolium* and 500m

g/kg *M. oleifera* + 500 mg/kg *G. latifolium* attests to a synergism between both extracts.

### CONCLUSION

The present study demonstrates that there is synergy in the anti diabetic efficacies of *Moringa oleifera* and *Gongronema latifolium*.

The extracts were also found to be safe up to 5000mg/kg body weight.

### CONSENT

It is not applicable.

### ETHICAL DISCLAIMER

Animal ethic Committee approval has been collected and preserved by the author.

### COMPETING INTERESTS

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

### REFERENCES

1. Kitabchi AE, Umpierrez GE, Miles JM, Fisher JN. "Hyperglycaemic crisis in adult patients with diabetes". *Diabetes care*. 2009;**32**(7): 1335-1343.
2. Shoback DG, Gardner D. Diabetes In: Greenspan"s Basic and Clinical Endocrinology. (9th Edition), Chapter 17. New york: McGraw-Hill Medical. 2011;**Pp**:419-410
3. Ghasemi A, Khalifi S, Jedi S. "Streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced rat model of type 2 diabetes". *Acta Physiologica Hungarica*. 2014;**101**(4); 408-420.

**Comment [S17]:** IN ITALICS AS *Moringa oleifera* and *Gongronema latifolium*.

**Comment [S18]:** GO THROUGH REFERENCE SECTION ONCE AGAIN.

4. Barrett KE. Diabetes In: Ganong's Review of Medical Physiology. 24th Edition. Chapter 49. McGraw-Hill Medical. 2012;Pp: 419-425.
5. Monica PH, Sharma B, Sarkar C, Singh C. Kinetics of drumstick leaves (*Moringa oleifera*) during convective drying. *African Journal of Plant Science*. 2010;**4**(10): 391400.
6. Patel RK, Manish MP, Nilesh RK, Kirit RV, Patel RK. "Invitro hepatoprotective activity of *Moringa oleifera* Leaves on isolated rat hepatocytes". *Int.j.ph.sci*. 2010;**2**(1):457-463.
7. Amaglo NK, Bennett RN, Lo-Curto RB, Rosa EA, Lo TV, Giuffrid A, Lo CA, Crea F, Timpo GM. Profiling selected phytochemicals and nutrients in different tissues of the multipurpose tree *Moringa oleifera* Lam grown in Ghana. *Food Chem*.2010;**122**: 1047-1054.
8. Coppin JP, Xu Y, Chen FA. "Determination of flavonoids by LC/MS and anti-inflammatory activity in *Moringa oleifera*". *Journal Functional Foods*. 2013;**5**:1892-1899.
9. Saini RK, Shetty NP, Giridhar P. "Carotenoid content in vegetative and reproductive parts of commercially grown *Moringa oleifera* Lam. cultivars from India by LC-APCI-MS". *Eur Food Res Technol*.2014;**238**:971-978.
10. Saini RK, Shetty NP, Prakash M, Giridhar P. " Effect of dehydration methods on retention of carotenoids, tocopherols, ascorbic acid and antioxidant activity in *Moringa oleifera* leaves and preparation of a RTE product". *J Food Sci Technol*. 2014;**51**:2176-2182
11. Saini RK, Shetty NP, Giridhar P. "GC-FID/MS analysis of fatty acids in Indian cultivars of *Moringa oleifera*: potential sources of PUFA". *J Am Oil Chem Soc*. 2014;**91**:1029-1034.
12. Saini RK, Manoj P, Shetty NP. "Dietary iron supplements and *Moringa oleifera* leaves influence the liver hepcidin messenger RNA expression and biochemical indices of iron status in rats". *Nutr Res*. 2014;**34**:630-638.
13. Saini RK, Manoj P, Shetty NP. "Relative bioavailability of folate from the traditional food plant *Moringa oleifera* L. as evaluated in a rat model". *J Food Sci Technol*. 2016;**53**:511-520.
14. Anwar F, Latif S, Ashraf M, Gilani AH. "Moringa oleifera: a food plant with multiple medicinal uses". *Phytother Res PTR*. 2007;**21**:17-25.
15. Faizi S, Siddiqui BS, Saleem R, Siddiqui S, Aftab K, Gilani AH. "Fully acetylated carbamate and hypotensive thiocarbamate glycosides from *Moringa oleifera*". *Phytochemistry*. 1995;**38**(4):957-963.
16. Guevara AP, Vargas C, Sakurai H, Fujiwara Y, Hashimoto K, Maoka T, Kozuka M, Ito Y, Tokuda H, Nishino H. "An Antitumor Promoter from *Moringa oleifera*". *Mutation research*. 1999;**440** (2); 181-188.
17. Airaodion AI, Ogbuagu U, Ogbuagu EO, Ekenjoku JA, Airaodion EO. "Protective Effect of ethanolic leaf extract of *Moringa oleifera* on haematological indices of rats fed with crude oil-treated diet". *International*

Comment [S19]: 391-400



- Journal of Bio-Science and Bio-Technology*. 2019;11(8):84-92.
18. Limon-Pacheco J, Gonsebatt ME. "The role of antioxidants and antioxidant-related enzymes in protective responses to environmentally induced oxidative stress". *Mutat. Res.*, 2009;674: 137–147.
  19. Mahajan S, Mehta A. "Curative effect of hydroalcoholic extract of leaves of *Moringa oleifera* lam. Against adjuvant induced established arthritis in rats". *Niger. J. Nat. Prod. Med.* 2009;13: 13–22.
  20. Airaodion AI, Olayeri IM, Ewa AO, Ogbuagu EO, Ogbuagu U, Akinmolayan JD, Agunbiade AP, Oloruntoba AP, Airaodion EO, Adeniji AR, Obajimi OO, Awosanya OO. " Evaluation of *Moringa oleifera* Leaf Potential in the Prevention of Peptic Ulcer in Wistar Rats". *International Journal of Research*. 2019; 6(2):579-584.
  21. Airaodion AI, Adekale OA, Airaodion EO, Ogbuagu EO, Uloaku Ogbuagu U, Osemwowa EU. "Efficacy of Combined crude Extract of *Curcuma longa* and *Moringa oleifera* in the Prevention of Peptic Ulcer in Albino Rats". *Asian Journal of Research in Medical and Pharmaceutical Sciences*. 2019; 7(2), 1-8.
  22. Airaodion AI, Ogbuagu U, Ekenjoku JA, Ogbuagu EO, Airaodion EO, Okoroukwu VN. "Hepato-protective Efficiency of Ethanol Leaf Extract of *Moringa oleifera* against Hydrocarbon Exposure". *International Journal of advances in Herbal and Alternative Medicine*. 2019;3(1): 5-10
  23. Iweala EEJ, Uhegbu FO, Adesanoye OA. "Biochemical effects of leaf extracts of *Gongronema latifolium* and selenium supplementation in alloxan-induced diabetic rats". *Journal of pharmacognosy and phytotherapy*. 2013;5(5): 9-97
  24. Chattopadhyay RR. "A comparative evaluation of some blood sugar lowering agents of plant origin". *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 1999;67:367-372.
  25. Ugochukwu NH, Babady NE. "Antioxidant effects of *Gongronema latifolium* in hepatocytes insulin dependent diabetes mellitus". *Filoterapia*. 2002;73(7):612-618
  26. Lorke D. " A New Approach to Practical Acute Toxicity Testing". *Arch. Toxicol.* 1983;53:275-289.
  27. Cheng YW, Caughey AB. "Gestational diabetes mellitus; What is the optimal treatment modality?". *J perinatal.* 2007;27:257-258
  28. Granner DK. Hormones of the gonads. In Harper's Biochemistry. Stanford, CT; Appleton and Lange press.1996; Pp. 566-580
  29. Mohamed AMG, Elkhatim HA, Ossama MB, Adel K. "Potential antidiabetic effect of ethanolic and aqueous-ethanolic extracts of *Ricinus communis* leaves on streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats". *peerJ*. 2019;7:1-48
  30. Mohan V, Sandeep S, Deepa R, Shah B, Varghese C. "Epidemiology of type 2 diabetes; Indian scenario". *Indian J Med Res*. 2007;125:217-230.
  31. Sylvester EG, Isreal EU, Olajumoke AD. "The effect of *Gongronema latifolium* leaf extract on blood biochemical assay in diabetic rats". *Journal of scientific research and reports*. 2015;6(7);514-522
  32. Airaodion AI, Akinmolayan JD, Ogbuagu EO, Airaodion EO, Ogbuagu U, Awosanya OO. "Effect of methanolic extract of *Corchorus olitorius* Leaves on hypoglycemic and hypolipidaemic activities

Comment [S20]: 91-97

Comment [S21]: 275-289

Comment [S22]: 566-580

Comment [S23]: Check???????

- in albino rats". *Asian Plant Research Journal*. 2019;**2**(7):113
33. Ogbuagu EO, Airaodion AI, Ogbuagu U, Airaodion EO. "Effect of methanolic extract of Vernonia amygdalina leaves on glycemic and lipidaemic indexes of Wistar rats". *Asian Journal of Research in Medical and Pharmaceutical Sciences*. 2019;**7**(3):1-14.
34. Airaodion AI, Adeniji AR, Ogbuagu EO, Ogbuagu U, Agunbiade AP. "Hypoglycemic and hypolipidaemic activities of methanolic extract of Talinum triangulare leaves in Wistar rats" . *International Journal of BioScience and Bio-Technology*. 2019;**11**(5):113
35. Airaodion AI, Ogbuagu EO, Airaodion EO, Ekenjoku JA, Ogbuagu U. "Pharmacotherapeutic effect of methanolic extract of Telfairia occidentalis leaves on glycemic and lipidemic indexes of alloxan-induced diabetic rats". *International Journal of Bio-Science and Bio-Technology*. 2009;**11**(8):1-17.
36. Airaodion AI, Ogbuagu EO, Ekenjoku JA, Ogbuagu U, Okoroukwu VN. "Antidiabetic effect of ethanolic extract of Carica papaya leaves in alloxan-induced diabetic rats". *American Journal of Biomedical Science & Research*. 2019;**5**(3):227-234.
37. Joshi P, Mehta D. "Effect of dehydration on nutritive value of drumstick leaves". *Journal of metabolomics and systems biology*. 2010;**1**(1); 1-5.
38. Manguro LOA, Lemmen P. "Phenolics of Moringa oleifera leaves". *Natural product research*. 2007;**21**(1);56-68.
39. Karthikesan K, Pari L, Menon VP. "Combined treatment of tetrahydrocurcumin and chlorogenic acid exerts potential antihyperglycaemic effect on streptozotocinnicotinamide-induced diabetic rats". *General Physiology and Biophysics*. 2010;**29**(1);2330
40. Tunnicliffe JM, Eller LK, Reimer RA, Hittel DS, Shearer J. "Chlorogenic acid differentially affects postprandial glucose and glucose-dependent-insulinotropic polypeptide response in rats". *Applied physiology, nutrition and metabolism*. 2011;**36**(5);650-659.
41. Bour S, Vinsentin V, Prevot D. "Effects of oral administration of benzylamine on glucose tolerance and lipid metabolism in rats". *Journal of investigative medicine*. 2005;**419**:223-225
42. Srinivasan BT, Jarvis J, Khunti K, Davies MJ. "Recent advances in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus; A review". *Postgrad.Med.J*. 2008;**84**:524-531

Comment [S24]: 2(4); 1-13

Comment [S25]: CHECK????????

Comment [S26]: 23-30